TECHNICAL REPORT STANDARD TITLE PAGE

I. Keport No.	Z. Government Acces	sion No. 3. R	ecipient's Cotalog N	<b>o</b> .				
FHWA/TX-85/70+256-6F								
4. Title and Subtitle		5. R	5. Report Date					
			tober 1983					
DYNAFLECT TESTING FOR RIGID		6. P	6. Performing Organization Code					
PAVEMENI EVALUATION								
7. Author <sup>(</sup> s)		8, P	erforming Organizatio	an Report No.				
Waheed Uddin, Victor Torres-Verdin, W. Ronald Hudson,								
Alvin H. Meyer, and B. Frank McCullough								
9. Performing Organization Nome and Address			Work Unit No.					
Center for Transportation Research The University of Texas at Austin Austin, Texas 78712-1075								
			Contract or Grant No					
			search Study	3-8-80-256				
12 Courses Access Name and Address	<u></u>	13.	l ype of Report and P	eriod Covered				
Tayas State Department of H	inhurse and Du	blic Fi	าลไ					
Transportation: Transportation Planning Division			1 inut					
$P_{\rm r}$ 0. Box 5051	or cucron ir runn	14.	Sponsoring Agency C	ode				
Austin, Texas 78763								
15. Supplementary Notes								
Study conducted in cooperat	ion with the U	. S. Department of	E Transportat	ion, Federal				
Highway Administration								
Research Study Title: "The	Study of New	Technologies for 1	Pavement Eval	uation"				
16. Abstract								
and the second second		c I	1					
This report presents t	he development	of a user's manua	al of Dynafle	ect testing				
for rigid pavement evaluati	on. The influ	ence of environmen	ntal factors,	Dynatlect				
position, and pavement char	acteristics on	deflections and o	other sources	ot errors				
are discussed as they relat	e to rigid pav	ements. Guideline	es and specif	ic pro-				
cedures are also described	for determinin	g sample size and	application	of the				
Dynaflect deflections to ma	terial charact	erization, void de	etection, and	l load trans-				
fer evaluation.								
17. Key Words 18. Distribution Statement								
D Cl + d Clustic manual Ne matrictica Mic desuration				ent is				
Dynamics, deflection measurement, No restriction			a nublic three	wigh the				
rigid pavement, temperature, roung s available to the public through the				on Service				
moduli, voius, ioau transfer, National fechnical information Service				on bervice,				
evaluation		opringiteiu, vi	.51111a 42101	L •				
19. Security Classif. (of this report)	20. Security Class	if. (of this page)	21. No. of Pages	22. Price				
Unclassified	Unal assified		110					
Unclassified				L				

DYNAFLECT TESTING FOR RIGID PAVEMENT EVALUATION

bу

Waheed Uddin Victor Torres-Verdin W. Ronald Hudson Alvin H. Meyer B. Frank McCullough

Research Report Number 256-6F

The Study of New Technologies for Pavement Evaluation Research Project 3-8-80-256

conducted for

Texas State Department of Highways and Public Transportation

in cooperation with the U. S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

by the

Center for Transportation Research Bureau of Engineering Research The University of Texas at Austin

October 1983

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

There was no invention or discovery conceived or first actually reduced to practice in the course of or under this contract, including any art, method, process, machine, manufacture, design or composition of matter, or any new and useful improvement thereof, or any variety of plant which is or may be patentable under the patent laws of the United States of America or any foreign country.

## PREFACE

This is the sixth and final report in the series describing the research work accomplished on Research Project 3-8-80-256, "The Study of New Technologies for Pavement Evaluation." Additionally, this report is also partly based on the research findings of Research Project 3-8-79-249, "Implementation of Rigid Pavement Overlay and Design System." Researchers from both research projects have contributed to the preparation of this report.

This report deals with the background material and development of guidelines for planning Dynaflect testing and analyzing the deflection data for rigid pavement evaluation.

The authors gratefully acknowledge the comments and suggestions given by Dr. T. W. Sager and Dr. Mary Whiteside, Professors of Business Statistics at The University of Texas at Austin during the statistical analyses performed n the Dynaflect deflection data. Thanks are also due to Dr. K. H. Stokoe, for providing guidelines with respect to Rayliegh wave velocities in different soil types. Gratitude is also expressed to Dr. Hani Mahmassani for his invaluable comments regarding the sample size determination of Dynaflect deflections. Appreciation and thanks are also extended to the staff of the Center for Transportation Research for providing support.

The authors also appreciate the acknowledge the support of Gerald Peck, Richard Rogers, and Ken Hankins of the Texas State Department of Highways and Public Transportaton.

> Waheed Uddin Victor Torres-Verdin W. Ronald Hudson Alvin H. Meyer B. Frank McCullough

iii

## LIST OF REPORTS

Report No. 256-1, "Comparison of the Falling Weight Deflectometer and the Dynaflect for Pavement Evaluation," by Bary Eagleson, Scott Heisey, W. Ronald Hudson, Alvin H. Meyer, and Kenneth H. Stokoe, presents the results of an analytical study undertaken to determine the best model for pavement evaluation using the criteria of cost, operational characteristics, and suitability.

Report No. 256-2, "Determination of In Situ Shear Wave Velocities From Spectral Analysis of Surface Waves," by J. Scott Heisey, Kenneth H. Stokoe, II, W. Ronald Hudson, and A. H. Meyer, presents a method for determining elastic moduli at soil and pavement sites. Criteria considered in developing this method included the restraint of nondestructive testing, accuracy of moduli for all layers regardless of thickness, and quickness and efficiency for rapid, extensive testing.

Report No. 256-3, "Detection of Cracks on Highway Pavements," by C. H. Chien, W. N. Martin, A. H. Meyer, and J. K. Aggarwal, presents algorithms for the detection of cracks of highway pavements in aerial photographs.

Report No. 256-4, "Evaluation of Moduli and Thickness of Pavement Systems by Spectral-Analysis-of-Surface-Waves Method," by Soheil Nazarian and Kenneth H. Stokoe, presents the Spectral-Analysis-of-Surface-Waves (SASW) method for determination of moduli and thicknesses of pavement systems. The testing procedure is simple, and a unique solution to the problem is obtained.

Report No. 256-5, "Investigations Into Dynaflect Deflections in Relation to Location/Temperature Parameters and Insitu Material Characterization of Rigid Pavements," Waheed Uddin, Soheil Nazarian, W. Ronald Hudson, Alvin H. Meyer, and Kenneth H. Stokoe, II, presents a recommended procedure for removing the influence of any temperature differential in the measured Dynaflect deflections on rigid pavements.

V

Report No. 256-6F, "Dynaflect Testing for Rigid Pavement Evaluation," by Waheed Uddin, Victor Torres-Verdin, W. Ronald Hudson, Alvin H. Meyer, and B. Frank McCullough. This report recommends step-by-step procedures for making Dynaflect deflection measurements on rigid pavements and for subsequent applications of the Dynaflect deflection data for materials characterization, void detection, and load transfer evaluation.

#### ABSTRACT

This report presents the development of a user's manual of Dynaflect testing for rigid pavement evaluation. The influence of environmental factors, Dynaflect position, and pavement characteristics on deflections and other sources of errors are discussed as they relate to rigid pavements. Guidelines and specific procedures are also described for determining sample size and application of the Dynaflect deflections to material characterization, void detection, and load transfer evaluation.

KEYWORDS: Dynaflect, deflection measurement, rigid pavement, temperature, Young's moduli, voids, load transfer, evaluation.

SUMMARY

This report describes the development of procedures for monitoring and evaluation of rigid pavements based on the analysis of the Dynaflect deflection measurements. Different factors which influence deflections on rigid pavement are identified and their effects are quantified and discussed. The effect of temperature on deflections near a pavement edge is presented and a procedure for necessary correction is outlined. The extent of the influence of other factors such as distance from pavement edge, voids under concrete slab, and position with respect to transverse cracks is also shown by including appropriate graphs based on theoretical and field studies. Other sources of errors, such as placement and replication errors, variation in slab thickness, and presence of very stiff foundation at shallow depth and their effects on observed deflections are also discussed.

Guidelines step-by-step procedures for collecting and analyzing Dynaflect deflections on rigid pavements are presented for specific applications to (1) materials characterization, (2) void detection, and (3) estimation of load transfer across transverse cracks and joints. A simple procedure for estimating temperature in the concrete slab using information from daily weather reports is presented for use if field measurement of pavement temperature is not possible. The assumption of normally distributed deflections has been checked by making appropriate statistical tests on a random sample of the Dynaflect data and found valid. Detailed guidelines for the selection of a minimum size of Dynaflect deflections for rigid pavement evaluation are also developed and presented.

ix

#### IMPLEMENTATION STATEMENT

Specific guidelines are included in this report for analyzing deflection data as applied to material characterization, void detection, and estimation of load transfer.

It is recommended that these guidelines be used to generate a user's manual to be used in Texas for taking any future deflection data for structural evaluation of rigid pavements. If data are taken without consideration of these factors their usefulness is limited and the resulting predictions are suspect. Implementation of such a user's manual would be directly beneficial to the Texas State Department of Highways and Public Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	iii
LIST OF REPORTS	v
ABSTRACT	vii
SUMMARY	ix
IMPLEMENTATION STATEMENT	xi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	
Background	1
Review of the Development of This Manual	1
The Dynaflect System	3
Purpose and Use of Deflection Measurement	3
Objectives	6
General	6
Specific	6
Scope of this Report	7
CHAPTER 2. FACTORS WHICH AFFECT PAVEMENT DEFLECTIONS	
Environmental Factors	9
Temperature Effects	9
Seasonal Effects	10
Position of Dynaflect	12
Pavement Characteristics	15
Effect of Void Size	15
Effect of Discontinuities	16
Errors	16
Effect of Placement Error	16
Replication Error	19
Effect of Rigid Layer	19
Variation in Slab Thickness	21
Summary	21

# CHAPTER 3. APPLICATIONS OF DYNAFLECT DEFLECTIONS

Material Characterization	25
Input Data	25
Basin Fitting Procedures	27
Consideration of Rigid Bottom	34
Stress Sensitivity of Subgrade	35
Void Detection	35
Use of Deflection Measurements	35
Sources of Errors	40
Effectiveness of Grouting Operation	40
Load Transfer Evaluation	42
Background	42
Mechanism of Load Transfer	42
Use of the Dynaflect Deflections	44
Application of the Developed Procedure	46
Reflection Cracking Analysis	46
Background	46
Procedure of Dynaflect Testing	46
	47
Summary	50
-	

# CHAPTER 4. ESTIMATION OF TEMPERATURE IN CONCRETE SLABS

Information Required to Estimate Pavement Temperature	•	٠	•	•	. 55
Climatological Data		•		•	. 55
Thermal Properties of Concrete			•		. 56
Temperature Model and Application			•		. 56
Theoretic Model				•	. 56
Computer Program and Application					. 56
Summary	•	•	•	•	. 56

# CHAPTER 5. DETERMINATION OF THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF DYNAFLECT DEFLECTIONS

Distribution of Deflections	63
Normality Tests	63
Application of Normality Tests to Sampled Deflection	
Data Dynaflect Deflection Sample	65
Determination of the Required Sample Size of Dynaflect	
Deflections for Void Detection and Load Transfer	
Evaluation	82
Summary	84

CHAPTER 6. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary	•	•	•	•	85
Conclusions			•	•	85
Factors Affecting Deflections and Sources of Errors	,		•	•	85
Applications of the Dynaflect Deflections		•	•	•	86
Void Detection			•	•	87
Reflection Cracking Analysis		•	•	•	87
Estimation of Temperature in Concrete Slab		•	•	•	88
Determination of Required Number of Dynaflect					
Deflections		•	•	•	88
Recommendations		•	•	•	88
N77772201070					01
REFERENCES	•	•	•	•	91

# CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

#### BACKGROUND

Extensive research has been carried out during the past several years to utilize Dynaflect deflections for assessing rehabilitation needs and for design of overlay of rigid pavements. The results of these research efforts are contained in reports generated from past and current research projects at the Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin. This document presents an operating manual for the Dynaflect for the evaluation of rigid pavements and reflects the findings of related past and continuing research sponsored by the Texas State Department of Highways and Public Transportation (SDHPT).

## Review of the Development of This Manual

The development of this manual for taking Dynaflect deflection measurements draws heavily from research conducted for the SDHPT. Several research reports produced by CTR which have been used in the preparation of this manual are outlined in Fig 1.1.

Research Project No. 177 produced several reports including, a rigid pavement overlay design procedure for Texas SDHPT (Ref 1), a recommended procedure for detection of voids under rigid pavements (Ref 2), and theoretical models for load transfer at cracks (Ref 3). Research Project No. 249 has generated improved procedures for material characterization (Ref 4), an studies on the effect of void size and placement error on measured deflections and determination of sample size for the Dynaflect deflections (Ref 5). Use of deflection to determine the effectiveness of grouting to fill voids under rigid pavement has been discussed in Ref 6.

Effects of temperature and location variables on measured deflections have been investigated in Project 256 (Ref 7). Specific recommendations (1) with respect to distance of Dynaflect tests from the pavement edge, (2) operation of the Dynaflect as related to time of the day, (3) effect of

1



Fig 1.1. A flow chart of contributions from different projects and research reports used in preparation of this user manual.

temperature measurements, and (4) the corrections necessary to remove the significant effect of temperature differential on the measured deflections are based on the findings of Ref 7 and the additional discussions contained in this report. Furthermore, the recommendations made in Ref 7 regarding insitu material characterization procedure are also considered herein.

## The Dynaflect System

The Dynaflect system (Fig 1.2) and its operating characteristics are discussed in Refs 5, 7, 8, and 9. A comparison of the Dynaflect with some other NDT devices has been made in Ref 8.

<u>Operating Characteristics</u>. The Dynaflect is a trailer-mounted unit which induces a steady state vibratory force on the surface of pavement through two rubber covered steel wheels. The dynamic force generator employs two counter rotating eccentric masses producing a peak to peak dynamic load of 1000 lb at a fixed frequency of 8 Hz.

Deflection Measuring System. Five equally spaced geophones are used to measure deflection response of the pavement (Fig 1.2). A sixth geophone is an option that can be hand-placed in any desired configuration. Prior to testing, each geophone is calibrated at the driving frequency, 8 Hz. A geophone is a velocity transducer which employs an inertial reference and gives an output signal in volts. The peak-to-peak dynamic deflection is proportional to the output voltage. The arrangement of five geophones in the automated system of the Dynaflect measures half of the deflection basin. A step-by-step procedure to use the Dynaflect for measuring a deflection basin is described in Ref 7.

## Purpose and Use of Deflection Measurement

<u>Structural Evaluation</u>. Monitoring of pavements and the subsequent feedback is an essential requirement of any working pavement management system (Ref 9). Structural monitoring of pavements is desirable before any major maintenance work or if a high level of distress is indicated from the



(a) The Dynaflect system in operating position (Ref 26).



(b) Configuration of load wheels and geophones.

(A sixth geophone is an available option.)

Fig 1.2. Configuration of Dynaflect load wheels and geophones in operating position.

results of condition surveys. On a project level PMS, structural monitoring is performed by making deflection measurements on an extensive basis. The deflection data are then used to divide the length of road in the design test sections. Subsequently the deflection data in each test section are analyzed to estimate the structural adequacy by using an empirical, allowable deflection approach or a mechanistic approach using layered theory computations.

Insitu Material Characterization. The Dynaflect deflection basin measured on an existing pavement is also used to back-calculate Young's moduli for the pavement layers. It is an iterative procedure in which layered theory is used to calculate theoretical deflections under the Dynaflect loading, which is compared with the measured deflection basin. This approach reduces the need for characterization of the pavement materials by laboratory tests (Refs 4 and 7).

<u>Void Detection</u>. The loss of soil support under rigid pavements associated with voids leads to increased load stresses and increased deflections. This will cause significant reduction in the fatigue life of the pavement. To study this problem deflection profile along the pavement edge may be compared with the corresponding deflections in the inside lane. Areas showing large deviations indicate partial loss of support and the possibility of voids (Ref 2). For any rigid pavement rehabilitation program, deflection surveys for the purpose of void detection should be considered as a integral part of the monitoring program.

Load Transfer Evaluation. The monitoring program for an existing rigid pavement can also include deflection measurements across the transverse cracks and/or joints to estimate the adequacy of load transfer. Deflection measurements can also be used with the results of condition surveys for diagnostic checking of the condition of transverse cracks and joints.

#### General

The Dynaflect deflections are used extensively to monitor rigid pavements. There are several environmental and operational factors that influence measurements of Dynaflect deflections. This report outlines these factors and presents procedures to quantify them. The causes of measurement errors plus the corrective procedures (which may be necessary before the deflection data are analyzed for structural evaluation) are also discussed.

#### Specific

This report provides specific guidelines for performing deflection measurements for the following purposes.

<u>Material Characterization</u>. Design test sections are delineated on the basis of a preliminary deflection profile. Statistical tests are then used to divide the sections that are significantly different from each other. Procedures are developed in Chapter 5 of this report in order to arrive at a suitable number of deflection measurements in each test section.

The most desirable location of the Dynaflect with respect to pavement edge and transverse crack will be recommended. Procedure for calculation of insitu Young's moduli will also be outlined.

<u>Void Detection</u>. The location of Dynaflect and frequency of deflection measurements will be discussed. Specific recommendations will be made to reduce the effect of temperature on deflections. A procedure to remove the influence of temperature differential on measured deflections will be presented.

Load Transfer. The theoretical models for estimating load transfer across transverse cracks and/or joints are reviewed. Additional analysis is performed in order to estimate any loss in load transfer across the transverse cracks or joints using deflections.

#### SCOPE OF THIS REPORT

This report presents a detailed operating manual for making reliable and accurate deflection measurements with the Dynaflect for structural monitoring and evaluation of rigid pavements. Separate guidelines are included for each specific use of the data, in this report as described in the following.

Chapter 2 summarizes factors that affect pavement deflections and the findings of previous research efforts. These include environmental factors, temperature effects and seasonal effects. Effects of pavement characteristics such as void size and discontinuities on deflections are presented as one source of errors in deflections -- e.g., placement replication, effect of rigid bottom, and variation in slab thickness.

Chapter 3 is devoted to the applications of deflection measurements in material characterization load transfer estimation and void detection. Chapter 4 presents and briefly discusses a theoretical model for estimating temperature at any depth of concrete slab using information from daily reports on climatological data providing an alternative to the actual measurement of pavement temperatures at the top and bottom of the slabs. Statistical treatment of deflections is dealt with in Chapter 5, which includes tests for normality assumption and determination of sample size for deflection measurements. Chapter 6 summarizes the earlier chapters and presents final conclusions and recommendations. .

## CHAPTER 2. FACTORS WHICH AFFECT PAVEMENT DEFLECTIONS

Deflection measurements on rigid pavements by NDT equipment are influenced by a number of factors. These factors can be broadly classified into two categories -- (1) environmental factors and (2) pavement characteristics. Other sources of error in measured deflections result from the presence of a rigid rock layer near the surface. The operation of the equipment could also be considered a source of error.

#### ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS

Temperature effects, seasonal effects and moisture effects are considered.

#### **Temperature Effects**

<u>Review of Past Research</u>. Temperature affects rigid pavement behavior in two ways:

- (1) Seasonal variations in temperature cause pavement to contract or expand over a large time interval and affect the development of friction force between the slab and the underlying layer and expansion of joint and crack.
- (2) The daily variation of temperature causes temperature differential in the slab and results in curling and warping.

Detailed literature reviews are presented in Refs 7 and 11. In addition conceptual discussion is also made in Ref 5.

<u>Curling and Warping</u>. Behavior of a rigid pavement is influenced by a vertical temperature differential in the slab, as discussed in Ref 7. Temperature differential is defined as the algebraic difference, temperature of top minus temperature at bottom of a concrete slab. The terms curling and

warping have been used to define the distortion of the pavement slab from its normal plane (Refs 11 and 12). Price (Ref 10) has done a literature review in order to establish clear definitions of these two terms. In this report, definitions adopted by Price are used.

Accordingly, curling is "the distortion of a pavement slab from its proper plane caused by differential expansion or contraction resulting from a difference in moisture content or in temperature between the top and the bottom of the slab." A temperature differential in the concrete slab will cause curling. Warping is defined as "the distortion or displacement of a pavement slab from its proper plane caused by external forces other than loads." An example of warping is the distortion caused by volumetric changes in the subgrade.

Temperature Effects on Deflections. Reference 7 presents results of an investigation into the influence of temperature and distance from pavement edge on Dynaflect deflection data collected on CRC pavement at Columbus, Texas in summer and fall 1981. The results showed that temperature differential is significant in explaining variation in Dynaflect deflections. It was also concluded that the influence of temperature differential on deflections measured in the wheelpath or in the center of the slab is practically insignificant. However, errors involved in deflections measured at the pavement edge were significant. These findings are also illustrated Another consideration in the evaluation of deflections is the in Fig 2.1. dispersion of scatter of data around the mean, Standard deviation is a measure of dispersion. From the replicate edge deflection data (Ref 7), it has been established that the sample standard deviation of edge deflections is considerably higher as a result of temperature differential, as illustrated in Fig 2.1.

#### Seasonal Effects

Any seasonal changes in parent deflections are generally the result of seasonal variation of moisture in unbound base layer and subgrade. The seasonal effects on deflections on rigid pavements are thoroughly discussed



Fig 2.1. Variations in temperature differential and Dynaflect deflections with time on December 1, 1981, at Columbus bypass, SH-71 (CRC pavement; Test Section 3).

in Refs 4, 5, and 7. The results of ANOVA on the Columbus Dynaflect data (Ref 13) show that there was statistically no significant difference in the means of sensor 1 deflections during summer and fall. This finding is also illustrated in Fig 2.2. Metwali (Ref 14) describes the results of ANOVA applied to the Dynaflect deflection data collected during fall and spring on different rigid pavement test sections. Metwali concluded that CRC pavements do not experience appreciable seasonal variations in their deflection. Jointed concrete pavements and asphalt pavements showed statistically significant changes in the maximum Dynaflect deflections due to seasonal variations. These findings by Metwali (Ref 4) are interesting and somewhat in conflict with the current data and belief. Further research is needed in this area.

## POSITION OF DYNAFLECT

The position of any NDT device with respect to the pavement edge and transverse crack or joint will greatly influence the measured deflection. Torres-Verdin and McCullough (Ref 5) reported a theoretical investigation using the SLAB49 Computer program (Ref 15) based on plate theory. By modeling the Dynaflect loading, deflections were found to decrease with an increase in distance from the pavement edge (Fig 2.3). Voids were also modeled at the edge. Significantly higher deflections were computed at the pavement edge. The effect of void size is further discussed in a letter section.

The experimental data collected at the Columbus, Texas, bypass and analyzed by Uddin et al (Ref 7) also indicate the significant effect of the distance of the Dynaflect with respect to pavement edge and position with respect to the transverse cracks. These findings are supported by the results of ANOVA (Ref 13) and illustrated in Fig 2.3. It is also shown in Chapter 5 that the normality assumption of the Dynaflect deflection data is valid only if the deflections are considered as sampled from the populations having different means and variances with respect to the distance of the Dynaflect from the pavement edge. In other words, if deflection data are

12



Fig 2. 2. Season effect on mean Dynaflect deflections, CRC pavement, Columbus bypass.



Fig 2.3. Deflection versus distance from the pavement edge for five different void conditions (Ref 6).

used to make statistical inferences, the data collected at different distances from the pavement edge should not be combined.

#### PAVEMENT CHARACTERISTICS

Basic assumptions in applying elastic layered theory to the design of rigid pavements include infinite slab in all directions away from the load and uniform K (modulus of subgrade reaction) at all points under the slab. A uniform K under the slab is improbable in an old pavement as voids may be created under the slab near its outer edge. Similarly the first assumption is also violated in a rigid pavement due to presence of joints and other discontinuities such as cracks. There are times when these violations may produce unreliable results and this may warrant the use of testing technique which is capable of applying a variable load. Effects of void size and discontinuities on deflections are examined in this section.

## Effect of Void Size

Creation of voids under concrete slab can principally occur by (1) pumping of subbase material, (2) movement or differential settlement in subsoil strata, and (3) slab jacking. A detailed discussion of the effect of voids on stresses and deflection and resulting reduction in the fatigue life of the pavement is given in Ref 5. An analytical investigation into the effect of void size on deflections was carried out in Ref 5 by modeling Dynaflect loading between transverse cracks. A factorial design was used to make runs of the SLAB49 computer program (Ref 15). Slab size (23.3 ft x 60.0 ft), crack spacing (8 ft), pavement thickness (8 inches), concrete modulus of elasticity (5 x 10<sup>b</sup> psi), and concrete Poisson's ratio (0.20) were held at fixed values. The parameters varied were (1) K values at 3 levels, 100, 400, and 800 psi; (2) distance of Dynaflect sensor no. 1 from the pavement edge also, at 3 levels 10, 40, and 80 inches; and (3) void size at 5 levels, 0, 7, 13, 27, and 40 sq. ft. The study showed that deflection increased as void area was increased, as illustrated in Fig 2.3. When the Dynaflect is moved toward the center of the slab, deflection decreases and at 5 ft from the

pavement edge there is practically no effect of void size on deflection (see Fig 2.4).

#### Effect of Discontinuities

The presence of discontinuities, such as transverse crack or joints, is an inherent characteristic of rigid pavements. Test load applied near these discontinuities results in higher deflection than the corresponding deflection measured away from the discontinuity. A discontinuity implies reduced slab bending stiffness in the orthogonal direction. Columbus Dynaflect data (Ref 7) provide experimental evidence of significantly higher deflection near the transverse crack as compared to the corresponding midspan deflection (see Fig 2.5). This figure also demonstrates the variations in deflections caused by different types of edge supports. In Fig 2.5 distances are measured from the pavement edge with the inside asphaltic concrete The abnormalities in deflection measured at 18, 21, 23, and 31 shoulder. feet from the pavement edge show the influence of the longitudinal joint located (at 24 feet). Deflections near the longitudinal joint (one foot from the joint which is 23 feet from the pavement edge) are higher than the deflections measured away from this joint. In this study (Ref 13), test section was also found to be a significant main effect. Plots of mean deflection versus distance from edge are similar for sections 2 and 3 but different for section 1. This can be explained by possible changes in the subgrade characteristics. The deflections near the transverse crack will also be affected by temperature changes. This subject is discussed further in Chapter 3, where a procedure is developed to use deflections for load transfer evaluation at transverse cracks.

#### ERRORS

# Effect of Placement Error

The deflections are significantly influenced as distance of the test load is varied from the pavement edge, as illustrated in Figs 2.2 and 2.3 in



Fig 2.4. Void size vs deflection for three different Dynaflect positions (Ref 5).



Fig 2.5. Variation in mean W1 deflections at midspan and near crack as a function of distance from the pavement edge.

Refs 5 and 7 respectively. The effect of placement error of the Dynaflect was theoretically analyzed in Ref 5. Placement error was considered to be the difference between the deflection at any distance greater than 20 inches from the pavement edge which results from placing both wheels of Dynaflect on the pavement. Figure 2.6 illustrates typical results of the influence of placement error of the Dynaflect on deflection as a function of void size. The error due to the void size is found to be generally greater than the placement error. It is concluded that the placement error should be kept as small as possible and should never exceed 5 inches.

### Replication Error

Replication error is associated with any deflection measuring device. It is also referred to as repeatability of the device. A review of several NDT deflection measuring devices and repeatability is made in Ref 8. Additional discussion and experimental data are also presented by Uddin et al (Ref 7). The coefficient of variation of replicate measurements of the Dynaflect sensor 1 deflections is in general below 10 percent (for locations which are not appreciable affected by temperature) and is as low as 2.1 percent.

# Effect of Rigid Layer

If a rigid bottom or rock layer exists at some depth, deflection measurements and subsequently Young's modulus of the subgrade will be significantly affected. Surface deflection is the integration of vertical strain over some depth which is considered to be infinite in most elastic layered theory programs. Presence of a rigid base at shallow depth will result in a reduction in the deflections. But, if the same deflection basin is to be used for calculation of Young's moduli, the subgrade modulus will be significantly overestimated if the rigid base is not modeled in the layered theory program used for basin fitting. Taute et al (Ref 4) made a detailed study of this problem. They developed regression equations that can be used



Fig 2.6. Deflection errors due to variations in Dynaflect placement as well as void size (Ref 5).
to determine reduction in the subgrade modulus if the depth to rigid bottom is known, as illustrated in Fig 2.7.

Consideration of rigid bottom in the basin fitting programs and estimating he depth to rigid bottom based on stress wave propagation theory have also been studied by Uddin et al (Ref 7) and are discussed in the next chapter.

# Variation in Slab Thickness

The variation of thickness of the surface concrete layer is a source of error in deflections and it also influences the back-calculated Young's moduli. The error due to a variation in slab thickness has been investigated by Torres-Verdin and McCullough (Ref 5) in conjunction with the development of procedure to determine sample size for the Dynaflect deflection tests. From studies made in Ref 5, it is recommended that a change in slab thickness of  $\pm$  0.25 inch typically causes a variation of approximately 2.5 percent in the sensor 1 deflection.

### SUMMARY

Investigations made to examine and quantify the effects of different factors that influence deflection measurements on rigid pavement have been reviewed in this chapter. These are summarized below.

- (1) It is established that temperature differential significantly affects edge deflections indicating the need for temperature correction.
- (2) The deflection data collected at different distances from the pavement edge should not be combined as they are significantly different from each other.
- (3) Effects of void size and discontinuities on the Dynaflect deflections are also reviewed.



Fig 2.7. The reduction in subgrade modulus predicted using deflection measurements when the subgrade is supported by a rigid foundation at depth  $D_3$  (Ref 4).

- (4) Different sources of errors in the deflections are reviewed and guidelines regarding the size of errors are also presented. These include
  - (a) placement errors,
  - (b) replication error,
  - (c) error due to the presence of a rigid bottom of shallow depth, and
  - (d) error due to variation in the thickness of the surface concrete layer.

.

### CHAPTER 3. APPLICATIONS OF DYNAFLECT DEFLECTIONS

This chapter deals with several applications of Dynaflect deflections measurements for rigid pavement evaluation. The principal use of deflection measurements is to estimate the inplace structural adequacy of pavements. In combination with the condition survey data, deflections may be used for prioritization at the network level. The Dynaflect is then used extensively to evaluate the following for each design section.

- (1) To calculate Young's moduli of subgrade and pavement layers which are also input in the overlay design procedure.
- (2) Diagnostic checking for void detection and loss of load transfer across cracks and joints, using Dynaflect deflections.

The following sections in this chapter present step-by-step procedures recommended for the use of Dynaflect deflections in four application areas-material characterization, void detection, load transfer evaluation, and reflection cracking analysis.

# MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION

Elastic layered theory is applied to analyze the Dynaflect deflections for material characterization. The procedure for analyzing the Dynaflect deflection basin for material characterization is based on work described in Ref 4.

### Input Data

<u>Deflection Data</u>. The Dynaflect deflection basin (Fig 3.1) measured in the wheel path or near the center of slab and away from a transverse crack or joint (in the mid-span position) is to be utilized for material characterization.

25



Maximum Dynaflect Deflection =  $w_1$ Basin Slope, SLOP =  $w_1 - w_5$ 

Fig 3.1. Typical Dynaflect deflection basin.

<u>Pavement Layers and Thickness Information</u>. The number of pavement layers and their corresponding thicknesses are to be gathered from construction plans or from cores extracted as part of the evaluation program or the use of Spectral-Analysis-of-Surface-Waves method (Ref 16).

<u>Initial Estimate of Material Properties of Pavement Layers</u>. Initial estimates of Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio for each individual layer and subgrade are required at the start of the iterative basin fitting procedure. Typical values of Poisson's ratio for different pavement materials are given in Table 3.1. Theoretical deflections calculated from elastic layered theory are not appreciably affected by small deviations from the recommended values of Poisson's ratios.

The initial estimate of Young's modulus, E, for each pavement layer is to be obtained from any available information on laboratory test data or seismic tests, such as Spectrum-Analysis-of-Surface-Waves (SASW) tests (Ref 16). The practical range of Young's moduli, E, for typical pavement materials and natural soils is presented in Table 3.2. An indication of the type and extent of distress, based on the condition survey data and information on the age of the pavement, can be very helpful in selecting a reasonable value of E from Table 3.2. Surface concrete and base layers show a lesser degree of variation in E values than natural subgrade layers.

# Basin Fitting Procedures

<u>Computer Based Iterative Procedure</u>. A rigid pavement structure can be modeled as a multi-layered linearly elastic system with homogeneous and isotropic material within each layer. The iterative procedure for backcalculation of Young's moduli is summarized below.

- Select a computer package based on layered theory, such as ELSYM5, LAYER15, or BISAR, for the calculation of the theoretical deflection basin.
- (2) Determine data assumed to be known for input:
  - (a) thickness information of each layer,
  - (b) loading configuration of the Dynaflect, and

Material	Recommended Value	Observed Range <sup>1</sup>
P. C. Concrete	0.15	0.10 - 0.25
Cement stabilized base material	0.20	0.10 - 0.25
Granular base (unbound)	0.40	0.20 - 0.50
Asphalt concrete	0.35	0.25 - 50
Subgrade Soil	0.40	0.5 (cohesive soil) 0.3 (non-cohesive soil)
Lime-treated subgrade	0.40	-

TABLE	3.1.	POISSON'S	RATIOS	OF	PAVEMENT	MATERIAL

<sup>1</sup>(After Ref 12)

# TABLE 3.2. YOUNG'S MODULUS OF ELASTICITY OF PAVEMENT MATERIALS

Materials	Typical Range of Young's Moduli, E
P. C. Concrete	$3 \times 10^6 - 6 \times 10^6 *$
Asphalt concrete	$0.2 \times 10^6 - 1.1 \times 10^6 *$
Cement-stabilized base	$0.5 \times 10^5 - 20 \times 10^5 *$
Unbound granular base (M <sub>R</sub> )	
(a) Low confining pressure (5 psi)	$15 \times 10^3$ - 35 x $10^3$ *
(b) High confining pressure (50 psi)	$6 \times 10^4$ - 11 x 10 <sup>4</sup> *
Subgrade soils (M <sub>R</sub> )	
(a) Cohesive clay type	$3 \times 10^3 - 4 \times 10^3 *$
(b) Fine grained sandy soil	$25 \times 10^3 - 30 \times 10^3 *$
Lime-treated subgrade	$5 \times 10^4 - 30 \times 10^4 *$

\*(After Ref 12)

- (c) points on the surface and their offsets from the load where deflections are measured (Fig 1.2).
- (3) Assign a reasonable estimate of Poisson's ratio and Young's modulus for each layer for the initial input.
- (4) Determine the only output needed from the program, an array of surface deflections calculated on the relative positions of the five geophones.
- (5) Compare the computed deflections with the measured insitu deflection basin. Once these are within a reasonable closure tolerance, 2 percent, the assumed values of Young's moduli become the final values.
- (6) Otherwise go to step 3 and change the previous value of the modulus for one or more layers and continue the iterative procedure until a best fit to the measured deflection basin is achieved.
- (7) Record the final combination of Young's moduli as the insitu moduli.
- (8) This procedure is used to estimate Young's moduli for each deflection basin.

The following limitations should be recognized in the procedure of material characterization using the basin fitting technique:

- (1) This iterative procedure does not give a unique solution, and therefore the final moduli should be checked to be within a reasonable range, as indicated in Table 3.2.
- (2) Consideration should be given to the possibility of the existence of rigid bottom which is discussed later.

The measured and calculated (the best fit) deflection basins should be plotted to ensure that there are not shape breaks especially in the initial portion of the basin near sensor 1. The shape of the fitted basin can be improved only by adjusting the moduli. The results of a parametric study on a rigid pavement (Ref 7) can be used to improve the iterative procedure for calculating Young's moduli as summarized below.

- (1) Change in the modulus of the subgrade layer causes the largest change in all deflection values,
- (2) A corresponding change in the surface concrete layer results in relatively fewer changes in all deflection values, and change in sensor 5 deflection is less than half of the change in sensor 1 deflection.
- (3) The deflection basin is least sensitive to changes in the moduli of the intermediate layers.

<u>Graphical Procedure</u>. An approximate procedure has been developed in Ref 4, based on a large number of elastic layered theory computations. The following conclusions were drawn from these computations:

- The subgrade modulus can be predicted with reasonable accuracy from sensor 5 deflection, and
- (2) Basin slope (Fig 3.1) is not appreciably affected by changes in the modulus of subgrade and therefore the basin slope or (sensor 1-sensor 5) deflection can be used to estimate moduli of pavement layers.

The step-by-step procedure is outlined as follows:

- Estimate the subgrade modulus using sensor 5 deflection and thickness of concrete, from Fig 3.2.
- (2) Use basin slope and subgrade modulus to estimate pavement layer moduli using the nomograph shown in Fig 3.3. This is an iterative procedure.
  - (a) Use slope  $(W_1 W_5)$  from measured deflection basin and estimate of E<sub>1</sub> to find the turning point on line number 3.



Fig 3.2. Dynaflect sensor 5 - subgrade modulus relationship for different rigid pavement thicknesses (Ref 4).



Fig 3.3. Nomograph for estimating subbase modulus of elasticity (E<sub>2</sub>) for rigid pavements from Dynaflect deflections (Ref 23).

- (b) Use this turning point and the value of slab thickness, D, on line 4 to locate the next turning point on line number 5.
- (c) Locate the subgrade modulus value, E (determined from step 1) on line 6; connect it with the turning point on line 5. Extend this line to the next turning line number 7.
- (d) Use this turning point on line 7 and thickness of the intermediate layer  $D_2$  on line number 8 to draw a line passing through these points and extend it to line number 9 and read the value, which will be an estimate of Young's modulus of the intermediate layer,  $E_2$ .

This procedure can be used to obtain initial estimates of layer moduli for the earlier computer based procedure, and also as a check on the computer's results, but is not recommended for use in a final design.

# Consideration of Rigid Bottom

Correction for the Effect of a Rigid Layer at a Known Depth. Layered theory programs in general assume an infinite subgrade. A laboratory resilient modulus,  $M_R$  value is often used in the material characterization. Using this value in the elastic layered theory program will result in a larger deflection in the case in which a rigid bottom exists at some shallow depth. In order to match the computed deflections with the measured deflection basin, the subgrade modulus is adjusted. The required reduction in the subgrade modulus (determined for an infinite subgrade) can be obtained by using the known depth of the subgrade to the rigid bottom or using Fig 2.7.

<u>Selection of the Depth to Rigid Bottom</u>. If a computer based basin fitting procedure is employed for material characterization, it is still possible to consider a rigid layer. This condition can be simulated by assigning a very large and fixed value to Young's modulus (e.g.,  $10^{99}$  psi) at the bottom of a subgrade layer of a known finite thickness. The deflection basin fitting procedure can then be used in the similar way as described earlier. In the case in which a very stiff bottom, e.g., bed rock, is present at some unknown depth the depth to the rigid layer must be selected. The theory of the propagation of stress wave in an elastic half space can be used as a rational approach. If the velocity of compression wave, P-wave  $(V_p)$  is known, then the wave length  $(L_p)$  can be determined by using the relationship

 $V_p = f \cdot L_p$ 

where f is the frequency of Dynaflect (8 Hz). The thickness of the subgrade layer can then be assumed to vary between half and full wave length. If data on sub-soil classification in the test area are accessible, then Table 3.3 can be used to select the depth to the rigid bottom. However this approach is applicable only when it is certain that a rock stratum does not exist at a depth of 20 feet or less on the test site. If it is suspected that the rigid layer is at a depth of less than 20 feet, then it is necessary to either bore for the depth or use SASW method as described in Ref 16, to determine the depth to the rock layer.

# Stress Sensitivity of Subgrade

The subgrade value estimated from deflection basin can be adjusted for stress sensitivity of subgrade when considered critical by (1) determining  $M_R$  on cores at different stress levels (Ref 4) or (2) use of an NDT technique that allows variable load.

#### VOID DETECTION

#### Use of Deflection Measurements

Dynaflect deflections provide a fast and reliable means for detecting voids under rigid pavement and also for judging the effectiveness of any grouting operation for corrective maintenance. Birkhoff and McCullough (Ref

RR256-6F/03

TABLE 3.3. ESTIMATION OF DEPTH TO RIGID BOTTOM ( $D_{SG}$ )

Soil Type		Compression Wave* (P-Wave) Velocity V <sub>p</sub> , ft/sec.	Suggested Thickness** of Subgrade D <sub>SG</sub> , ft.	
Α.	Unsaturated Condition			
	Very Soft Soft Medium	800 1200	50 75	
	Stiff	1800	≈ 113	
	Very Stiff	≈ 2500 ≈	<del></del> ≈ 156	
В.	Saturated Condition	≈ 500℃ ≈	≈ 313	

- \* Typical values of V, compression wave velocity are based on recommendations by <sup>p</sup> Dr. K.H. Stokoe II, Professor of Soil Dynamics at The University of Texas at Austin.
- \*\* Depth of subgrade over the rigid bottom, D<sub>SG</sub> is based on half wavelength corresponding to P-wave at 8 Hz.

2) have recommended two methods for using the Dynaflect deflection data to identify the areas likely to have voids. These methods involve (1) deflection basins and (2) W1 deflection profiles. The Dynaflect data are collected along the roadway. Two sets of deflection measurements are taken in each test section, one in the outside lane at 3 feet from the outside edge and the other at 3 feet from the center of the inside lane. This procedure has been revised (Ref 6) and is described later in this chapter.

<u>Deflection Basin Method</u>. The deflection basins at each station are plotted using Texas SDHPT computer program STCOE 1 (Ref 2). In the first method, the basin plots (Fig 3.4) are compared on a relative basis to determine the areas where high and deep basins exist, which indicate presence of voids.

<u>Sensor 1 Deflection Profiles</u>. In the second method deflection profile plots are produced based on maximum (sensor 1) deflection. This method is more efficient than the first method. The interior and edge deflection profiles (see Fig 3.5) are again compared on a relative basis.

The experimental Dynaflect data (Ref 7) and theoretical investigations on the effects of void size (Ref 5), and recent studies (Ref 6) as discussed in Chapter 2 have resulted in minor modifications to the procedure presented in Ref 2.

<u>Recommended Procedure</u>. Use of only sensor 1 deflections for plotting deflection profiles is preferred. The step-by-step procedure for analyzing the deflection data for void detection is presented in the following.

- Obtain the outside lane deflections at one foot from the pavement outside edge. The sensor 1 deflections are to be corrected for zero temperature differential condition.
- (2) Obtain the outside lane deflection at center line. If the deflection measurements are also being made for material characterization at the center of the outside lane then this data will be sufficient to provide relative comparison.
- (3) Plots of the two deflection profiles are to be produced as illustrated in Fig 3.5.

37





Fig 3.4. Comparison of high deflection and low deflection basins (Ref 2).



000 Outside Lane | ' From Outside Edge

Fig 3.5. Example deflection profile for detection of voids.

(4) Areas susceptible to voids are to be marked on the plots on a relative basis, as illustrated in Fig 3.5.

# Sources of Errors

<u>Placement Error</u>. The Dynaflect deflections can be significantly affected by the placement error, as discussed in Chapter 2. The Dynaflect loading wheels and sensor 1 should be as close to the marked position on the pavement as possible but no more than 5 inches out in any case.

<u>Error Due to Temperature Differential</u>. Temperature differential has a significant effect on Dynaflect edge deflections. In the early morning hours, a negative temperature differential will cause an increase in deflection. In the mid-afternoon when the maximum positive temperature differential occurs, observed deflections will be less than the corresponding deflections at zero temperature differential condition. Therefore, it is necessary to transform all edge deflections measured at different times of the day to the standard condition of zero temperature differential in the slab. An example of applying this correction is given in Ref 7.

# Effectiveness of Grouting Operation

Dynaflect deflections are also used to evaluate the effectiveness of grouting operations to fill voids under the pavement. Practical examples are presented in Ref 6. A graphical procedure for this purpose has been developed in Ref 5. The step-by-step procedure is presented below.

- (1) Obtain Dynaflect deflections after the undersealing operation at one foot from the outside edge in the outside lane.
- (2) Apply temperature correction to sensor 1 deflections to correspond to zero temperature differential condition.
- (3) Plot the corrected deflections before and after the grouting operation, as illustrated by dots in Fig 3.6. Also draw the equality line (solid line), which is at 45 degrees with respect to the abscissa.

RR256-6F/03



Fig 3.6. Example plot used in the recommended procedure for estimating the effectiveness of undersealing operations (Ref 5).

- (4) Using a programmable calculator or a statistical package accessible at the Texas SDHPT computer, estimate a best fit simple linear regression line (dashed) having its origin in the area of greatest concentration of dots near the line of equality.
- (5) Compare the estimated slope of the fitted line, m, with the values shown in Table 3.4 to estimate the effectiveness of the grouting operation.

#### LOAD TRANSFER EVALUATION

#### Background

The presence of discontinuities in the surface concrete layer is an important characteristic of rigid pavements. These discontinuities are (1) irregular transverse cracks in continuously reinforced concrete pavement, (2) controlled transverse cracking in sawed contraction joints in plain or reinforced jointed concrete pavement and (3) contraction or expansion joints where dowels are used for providing load transfer. The transverse cracks in CRC pavements and JRC pavements are held tight by reinforcement. In designing a new pavement, full load transfer across these discontinuities is always implied. However gradual deterioration of the discontinuities over the years caused by environmental changes and accumulation of traffic loads results in partial load transfer. A loss in load transfer is associated with an increase in deflection.

#### Mechanism of Load Transfer

Strauss et al (Ref 3) present discussions on the mechanisms of load transfer and theoretical models to estimate load transfer. For CRC pavement, three mechanisms of load transfer across cracks are discussed--through moment transfer, aggregate interlock, and dowel action of steel reinforcement. Mathematical models are developed for the three cases and compared with the field data. It is concluded that (1) the probability of moment transfer at a crack is very small unless crack width is very narrow which is possible only

m	Percent of Void Area Filled
1.0	0
0.8	20
0.6	40
0.4	60
0.2	80
0.0	100

TABLE 3.4.PERCENT OF VOID AREA FILLED AS A<br/>FUNCTION OF SLOPE, m

for new pavements; (2) and the burden of the load transfer has to be carried by aggregate interlock and dowel action of the longitudinal steel reinforcement.

# Use of the Dynaflect Deflections

<u>Analytical Investigations</u>. A crack in a rigid pavement can be simulated by reducing the slab bending stiffness in the SLAB49 computer model (Ref 17). It can be assumed that the load transfer at a transverse crack is a function of the percentage reduction in the slab bending stiffness along the crack. This assumption makes it convenient to use deflection measurements to estimate loss in load transfer.

Numerous SLAB49 computer runs were made to develop a dimensionless chart for load transfer evaluation. The CRC pavement structure assumed in the study is 10 inches surface concrete layer ( $E = 4 \times 10^6$  psi, Poisson's ratio = 0.15) over a stabilized base with K on top equal to 800 pci. Average crack spacing is assumed to be 8 feet. A 9-kip wheel load is applied at 5 feet from the outside edge of the outside lane and computations are made at different levels of reduction in slab bending stiffness to calculate (1) deflections d<sub>i</sub> when the load is applied in between cracks and (2) deflections d<sub>c</sub> when the load is applied at the crack.

Estimation of Loss in Load Transfer. Figure 3.7 illustrates a curve on a dimensionless plot developed from the results of the analytical study (also valid for  $K_{top}$  of 2000 pci). The curve represents a relationship between deflection ratio (DR) and load transfer factor (LTF) which are defined below.

$$DR = d_c/d_j \tag{3.1}$$

where  $d_c$  and  $d_i$  are deflections at the crack and in the mid span position, respectively.



Fig 3.7. Log  $(d_c/d_i)$  versus load transfer factor CRCP.

LTF = 100 - percent reduction in slab bending stiffness (3.2)

The relationship shown in Fig 3.7 is unique for CRC pavements with and without tied concrete shoulder. Assumption of linearity in the theoretical model used for computations validates use of the Dynaflect deflection measurements to obtain deflection ratio  $d_c/d_i$  and estimate the corresponding load transfer using Fig 3.7. The same figure can also be used for evaluation of contraction or warping joints in JRC pavements.

#### Application of the Developed Procedure

The dimensionless curve in Fig 3.7 has been used to evaluate loss in load transfer using the Dynaflect data collected at Columbus, Texas, (Ref 7). Deflection ratios,  $d_c/d_i$ , of 1.06 or lower are observed for the fall data of sensor 1 deflections measured in the wheel path, which is typical of a new CRC pavement. This corresponds to an LTF equal to or more than 70 percent.

#### **REFLECTION CRACKING ANALYSIS**

#### Background

A recent study has been carried out by Mendoza and McCullough (Ref 23) to develop design charts for use in the design of hot mix asphalt concrete (HMAC) overlays on portland cement concrete (PCC) pavements to prevent reflection cracking. Reference 24 is the source for a detailed theoretical treatment of the reflection cracking analysis procedure.

### Procedure of Dynaflect Testing

An important step in the reflection cracking analysis procedure is to make field deflection measurements prior to overlay placement on a number of joints or cracks in a given design section by loading on one side of each joint (or crack) and measuring the deflections on both loaded and unloaded sides. The Dynaflect device may be used for these measurements. The deflection factor for each joint,  $F_{w}$ , can be computed as:

$$F_{w} = \frac{w_{1} - w_{u}}{w_{1} + w_{u}}$$
(3.3)

where

 $w_1$  = deflection on loaded side, and  $w_u$  = deflection on unloaded side.

Figures 3.8 and 3.9 show the location of the Dynaflect load and geophones in order to determine the required deflection values.

# Application

References 23 and 24 present the concept that the maximum shear strain,  $_{\rm OV}$  to which an overlay can be subjected is expressed as

$$Y_{OV} = f \left[ N_{T}, EDV \right]$$
(3.4)

where

 $N_{t}$  = repetitions of design 18-kip single axle load, and

EDV = dynamic modulus of elasticity of the overlay material.

Next, an impression is obtained for the maximum allowable deflection factor,  $\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{W}}$ 

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{w}} = \mathbf{f} \left[ \gamma_{\mathbf{0V}}, \text{ EDV}, \text{ THOV}, \text{ ED2}, \text{ TH2} \right]$$
 (3.5)



Fig 3.8. Required positioning of Dynaflect load wheels and geophones for load transfer deflection measurements (after Ref 24).



Direction of traffic

Fig 3.9. Illustration of Dynaflect deflection load and geophone configuration for determining required deflection values (after Ref 24).

where

THOV = overlay thickness, inches, ED2 = dynamic modulus of the intermediate layer, TH2 = thickness of intermediate layer, and  $\gamma_{OV}$  and EDV are defined earlier.

Based on the relations 3.4 and 3.5, a graphic procedure has been prepared by Mendoza and McCullough (Ref 24) to determine the critical deflection factor as illustrated in Fig 3.10. This chart is applicable to the six composite climatic zones of Texas as shown in Fig 3.11. The critical value of deflection factor obtained from Fig 3.10 must not be exceeded by the actual deflection factors of each joint (or crack) obtained from the field deflection measurements for the particular section being designed. Those joints (or cracks) whose deflection factors exceed the maximum deflection factor should be subjected to an appropriate measure of rehabilitation before overlay placement so that premature reflection cracking will be avoided (see Fig 3.12).

#### SUMMARY

The three major applications of the Dynaflect deflections as related to rigid pavement evaluation have been presented in this chapter. Detailed guidelines are included on insitu material characterization of pavement materials using Dynaflect deflections. Step-by-step procedures for detecting voids beneath rigid pavements and evaluating the effectiveness of grouting operations are described. A brief background on load transfer evaluation and specific recommendations on using the Dynaflect deflections to estimate loss in load transfer and diagnostic checking of the cracks or contraction joints are also presented. Use of Dynaflect deflections in reflection cracking analysis is also discussed.

RR256-6F/03



Fig 3.10. Design chart for estimating allowable deflection factor,  $F_{_{\rm W}}$  , (Ref 23).



Fig 3.11. Six composite zones.



Fig 3.12. Graph of field deflection factors for 50-foot JCP illustrating application of maximum deflection factor in detecting joints which will cause premature reflection cracking in the overlay design considered (after Ref 24).

Temperature correction is required in the case of the Dynaflect sensor 1 deflections measured at one foot from the pavement edge for the purpose of void detection. This necessitates measurement of temperature both at top and bottom of the concrete slab. As an alternative, a simple procedure for predicting temperatures in a concrete slab using local climatological data is presented in the next chapter.

# CHAPTER 4. ESTIMATION OF TEMPERATURE IN CONCRETE SLABS

Dynaflect deflection measurements made for the purpose of void detection must be corrected to remove the influence of temperature differential. This implies measurement of temperature at the top and bottom of the concrete slab simultaneously with the use of Dynaflect. This chapter describes an alternate procedure for estimating temperature in the concrete slab based on climatological data and thermal properties of concrete. The development of the temperature predictive model is described in detail in Ref 7.

# INFORMATION REQUIRED TO ESTIMATE PAVEMENT TEMPERATURE

Different climatological information from daily weather report and material properties required to estimate temperature in concrete pavement are presented in this section.

# Climatological Data

<u>Ambient Air Temperature</u>. The daily air temperature variations follow a sinusoidal function of time and the temperature is the most important factor to influence the surface temperature of a concrete pavement. The hourly record of air temperature is not maintained in all weather stations. Therefore, the model relies on daily maximum and minimum air temperatures which are always included in daily weather reports.

<u>Solar Radiation</u>. Solar radiation is also a major contributor to temperature changes in concrete pavement. The local weather stations report total solar radiation in Langleys per day. Solar radiation is affected by the cloud cover.

<u>Wind Speed</u>. Average wind speed is also an input in the model because it influences the surface temperature. Strong wind tends to decrease the surface temperature.

55

# Thermal Properties of Concrete

Table 4.1 presents the thermal properties of concrete and typical values for pavement-quality concrete.

#### TEMPERATURE MODEL AND APPLICATION

#### Theoretic Model

The theoretical model described by Shahin and McCullough (Ref 18) has been revised by Uddin et al (Ref 7) for applicability to concrete pavements. The mathematical model is based on the theory of conduction of heat through a semi-infinite homogeneous mass. The final form of the model is described in Ref 7.

# Computer Program and Application

Complete listing of the revised computer program PTEMP based on the theoretical model is given in Ref 7 with examples of input and output. A simplified flow chart of the program, is presented in Fig 4.1. Temperature parameters of the concrete slab at the CRC pavement, at Columbus, Texas, in August. 1981 have been estimated using computer program PTEMP. The climatological data thermal properties and the calculated hourly distribution of temperatures are given in the example output in Table 4.2. The estimated and measured temperature data are plotted in Fig 4.2 for comparison. Weather data were obtained from weather reports published by NOAA (Ref 19).

# SUMMARY

A temperature predictive model has been described in this chapter for use in an alternate procedure if actual measurement of temperature in concrete pavement is not possible. Typical values for thermal properties of
Properties	Portland Cement Concrete	Asphalt Cement Concrete		
Absorptivity of surface to solar radiation	0.65 - 0.80 (Ref 23)	0.95**		
Thermal conductivity (BTU/ft <sup>2</sup> /hr, °F)		0.7**		
Aggregates:				
Gravel	0.9**			
Igneous	0.83*			
Dolomite/limestone	2.13*			
Specific heat (BTU/1b, °F)	0.20 - 0.28*	0.22**		

\* (Ref 35) \*\* (Ref 4)



Fig 4.1. Simplified flow chart of temperature prediction program, "PTEMP."



Fig 4.1. (continued)

PROB. NO. 1 COLUMBUS BYPASS SH 71 AUG.06,1981 AVE. AIR TEMP.= 85,500 DEG F 25,000 TEMP.RANGE = DEG.F 8.300 WIND VELOCITY = MPH. MATL, DENSITY = 150,000 PCF. .240 SPECIFIC HEAT = PTU, PEP POUND DEG.F 900 CONDUCTIVITY 3 BTU, HOUR, FT, DEG, F ,750 ABSORBTIVITY # 575.000 SOLAR RAD. = LANGLEYS PER DAY NEPTH 3 10,000 TNCHES HUUR OF DAY TEMP, TOP TEMP, BOTTOM DT TMID DEG .-F DEG.F HALIPS DEG. .F DEG. .F 89,8 91,1 93,2 95,6 95,3 7 +5.9 92.7 Α,Μ, 1 93,2 8 A. M. -4.1 2 95.0 94.1 9 -1.7 τ, A.H. ,9 95,7 đ 10 A.H. 94.8 95.3 11 94.8 11.6 100.6 A.M. 100,4 5 115,4 94,9 20.5 15 NOON: 105.1 6 121,4 95.1 P.M. 1 26.3 108.3 7 123,5 95.4 P.M. 2 58.1 109.5 R 95,5 0 3 P.M. 59.5 108.7 4 P. M. 117,7 96.2 21.5 106,9 10 P.M. 5 97.4 14.2 104.5 11 111,6 104 0 95 7 P.M. 98,5 5.6 101.2 12 6 =3,5 13 7 P.M. 99.3 97.5 94 8 A 99.8 -5.0 97.3 P.M. 14 99,7 9 •5,8 96.8 P.M. 15 99.5 93,0 =6.5 96,3 10 P.M. 14 92,5 99.2 Р.м. =7,0 11 95.7 17 MIDNIGHT 91,5 98,9 -7.4 95.2 15 1.4 90 A 98 3 98.5 =7.6 94.7 A . M . 10 1 90,3 89,8 89,5 89,5 98.0 =7.7 94.1 2 A. M. 20 97.5 =7,7 93.7 21 3 Α.Μ. 96,9 -7,4 93,2 22 4 A. M. 96.4 -7.0 92,8 5 A . M . 23 89.3 95.8 A . M . -6,5 92.5 6 24



Fig 4.2. Comparison of predicted and measured temperature differential (Ref 7).

concrete and a source for obtaining the pertinent daily weather information are also described. The estimated temperature parameters from computer program PrEMP compare reasonably well with the measured data.

### CHAPTER 5. DETERMINATION OF THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF DYNAFLECT DEFLECTIONS

The assumption concerning the normally distributed population of deflections is a basic step toward the determination of sample size. Statistical procedures described in the first section were used on a sample of the Dynaflect data (collected in Project 256) to check and validate the assumption of normal distribution. In the later sections, a procedure is developed for determining the required number of Dynaflect deflections based on sound statistical theory. This procedure is an improvement and an extension of the study presented in Ref 5.

#### DISTRIBUTION OF DEFLECTIONS

# Normality Tests

A number of procedures used for making statistical inferences from sampled deflections are based on the assumption that the population being sampled is (or is at least approximately) normally distributed. There are several procedures available to decide whether the normality assumption is reasonable.

<u>Empirical Rule</u>. The characteristics of normal distribution can be used to make an informal check on the normality assumption. Figure 5.1 illustrates examples of hypothetical continuous probability distribution which is normal. A normal distribution can be completely defined by the two parameters population mean,  $\mu$ , and population standard deviation,  $\sigma$ . The estimate of  $\mu$  is the sample average  $\overline{W}$  which is a measure of location of the sample. Standard deviation is a measure of the spread of the distribution and can be estimated from the sample standard deviation, s. The probability that a single observation will fall within  $\pm \sigma$ ,  $2\sigma$  or  $\pm 3\sigma$  is, respectively, around 0.68, 0.95, or 0.997. This has led to an empirical rule for checking normality (Ref 20).

63



Fig 5.1. Examples of theoretical normal distributions at edge (1L) and wheelpath (4L) locations on rigid pavement.

1.	number	in	W	-	8,	W	+	s -	0.68n	2	1.41 🗸 n	(5.1)
2.	number	in	W	-	2s,	W	+	2 s	- 0.95r	1	≥ 0.654 √n	(5.2)

or

3. | number in  $\overline{W}$  - 3s, W + 3s - 0.997n |  $\geq$  0.164  $\sqrt{n}$  (5.3)

then the assumption of normality is of doubtful validity (where n = number of observations in the sample).

<u>Use of Probability Paper</u>. An informal check on the normality assumption can also be made by plotting the sample data points on the special normal probability paper. A sample drawn from a normally distributed population should give roughly a straight line plot on this specially constructed paper.

<u>Goodness-of-Fit Tests</u>. These statistical tests are used to compare the observed sample distribution with the theoretical distribution of the population. There are several goodness-of-fit tests used by statisticians. The commonly used tests are the chi-square test, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, and the Shapiro-Wilk test (Ref 20).

# <u>Application of Normality Tests to Sampled Deflection Data Dynaflect</u> Deflection Sample

The variability in the deflection measurements can occur due to (1) random error, (2) equipment and operator errors, and (3) inherent variability due to subgrade soil and pavement characteristics. In our case the selection of pavement test sections are based on the same subgrade soil. The mistakes due to faulty equipment or human errors can not be considered in normality tests. The variability due to only chance errors is considered in the population distribution. Another important aspect is location of the deflection measurements. As illustrated in Figs 2.2 and 2.5, the mean deflection is significantly different with respect to the distance of Dynaflect from the pavement edge. It may imply that the deflections are normally distributed but have different means and variances at each location.

The Dynaflect maximum deflection data collected at Columbus, Texas (Ref 7) during 1981 have been used in this study. Random samples were drawn from this data set and their plots on normality paper were checked. They significantly deviated from a straight line, and the data were therefore divided into subsets with respect to the distance from the pavement edge.

Tests for Normality Assumption. Tests for normality made on random samples drawn from the subsets showed that the deflection data are normally distributed. However samples corresponding to different distances from the pavement edge correspond to populations with theoretical normal distribution having different means. The normality tests performed on a random sample of 28 sensor 1 deflections measured at 3 feet from the pavement edge, i.e., in the wheelpath are described in the following paragraphs.

Table 5.1 shows the results of applying the empirical rule. It can be seen that none of the inequalities are satisfied; therefore an assumption of normality is presumably correct. The plot of the sampled data points on a normality paper is approximately a straight line (Fig 5.2). A detrended normal plot was also generated. This plot indicates that the sample is probably drawn from a normally distributed population if the data points are clustered about zero on the vertical axis, as illustrated in Fig 5.3.

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov (2-tailed) test was employed as a goodness-of-fit test to check the normality assumption. It is a nonparametric test in which the null hypothesis states that the population is a normal distribution. The mean and standard deviation of the population are estimated from the sample. The results are presented in Table 5.2. Additionally, based on 2-tailed probability associated with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Z statistic the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. Therefore it is reasonable to assume that the

# TABLE 5.1. NORMALITY CHECK BY EMPIRICAL RULE

Sample (n) 28	e Size	$\frac{\text{Mean, mils}}{(x)}$	Standa	ard Dev (s) 0.013	viation	
Interv	vals_				Obser in the	rvations Intervals
1	:(x - s,	$\tilde{x} + s$ ) =	0.250, 0.	. 276		17
2	$:(\bar{x} - 2s)$	$, \bar{x} + 2s) =$	= 0.237,	0.289		27
3	:(x - 3s	, x + 3s) =	= 0.224,	0.302		28
Inequa	lities					
1	: 17 - 0	.68 x 28	<u>&gt;</u> 1.41	$\sqrt{28}$		
2	: 27 - 0	.95 x 28	<u>&gt;</u> 0.654	$\sqrt{28}$		
3	: 28 - 0	.997 x 28	<u>&gt;</u> 0.164	$\sqrt{28}$		
Result	: Since satis plaus	none of the fied, an ass ible.	e three in sumption of	nequali of norm	ities an nality :	e is

-



Fig 5.2. Plot of Wl deflection sample data on normal probability paper.



Fig 5.3. Detrended normal plot of sample Wl deflection data.

# TABLE 5.2. KOLMOGOROV - SMIRNOV GOODNESS OF FIT TEST ON SAMPLE DEFLECTIONS

- 1. Null Hypothesis, H : The observed distribution comes from a normally distributed population.
- 2. Alternate Hypothesis, H: a population that does not have a normal distribution.
- 3. Test Statistics:  $D_{\alpha} = Maximum$  absolute differences between observed and theoretical frequencies expressed as proportions.

At  $\alpha = 0.05$ ;  $D_{\alpha} = 0.25$  for n = 28 (Ref 23).

4. Criterion: Reject H<sub>o</sub> if D > 0.25;

,

5. Assuming normal distribution with mean = 0.2620 and standard deviation = 0.013 estimated from the samples; it is found that:

D = 0.1728.

6. Since  $D(0.1728) < D_{\alpha}(0.25)$ ; Do not reject H. In other words, the assumption of normal distribution is reasonable.

distribution of the population is normal. Figure 5.4 illustrates the frequency distribution of the sampled data.

The results and discussions presented so far indicate that (1) the normality assumption for these Dynaflect deflections appears reasonable and (2) the deflection data collected at different distances from the pavement edge should be treated separately keeping in view that these may be from normally distributed populations with different means and/or variances.

<u>Development of a Procedure to Determine the Required Number of Dynaflect</u> <u>Deflections for Materials Characterization Purposes in Rigid Pavements</u>. Several attempts have been made in the past to estimate the sample size of pavement deflections under the assumption that deflection measurements are normally distributed. This assumption has been validated in the preceding section of this chapter.

Generally, if the value of  $\sigma$  (universe standard deviation) is known, a level of confidence is specified, and the allowable error (e) in estimating  $\mu$  (universe mean) is given , a confidence interval of  $\mu$  can be produced by selecting a sample of the correct size (Ref 22). Reference 5 presents previous work related to the estimation of deflection sample size for materials characterization of in-service rigid pavements.

The formal expression to determine required sample size is written as

$$n_{\mathbf{r}} = \left[\frac{Z_{\alpha} \sigma}{e}\right]^2$$
(5.4)

where

 $\sigma$  is the unbiased estimate of the universe standard deviation,  $\sigma$ , and is obtained from a representative sample by

RR256-6F/05



Deflection, W1, mils

Fig 5.4. Frequency distribution of the Dynaflect Sample data.

$$\hat{\sigma} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_i - \overline{x})^2}{\frac{i=1}{n-1}}}$$
(5.5)

where

$$X_i$$
 = value of the sample's i<sup>th</sup> observation,  
n = sample size, and  
 $\overline{X}$  = sample mean.

Since  $\sigma$  is the parameter commonly available, a Student's t distribution should be used according to statistical theory. Thus, Eq 5.4 can be modified as follows:

- 1.

$$n_{r} = \left[\frac{\hat{t}_{\alpha} \sigma}{e}\right]^{2}$$
(5.6)

where

ťα

 t-value corresponding to a certain combination of level of significance, α, and number of degrees of freedom.

Number of degrees of freedom (d. f.) is defined as the sample size minus one  $(n_r - 1)$ .

Equation 5.6 computes the required number of deflections for a particular pavement section if  $\sigma$  is used instead of the universe standard deviation. Equation formula 5.6 is very seldom used because t<sub>α</sub> is a function of the sample size, which is what must be determined, and an iterative process needs to be followed until the value of t<sub>α</sub> input is equal to that corresponding to the final sample size minus one  $(n_r - 1)$ .

However, any of both equations provides an estimate of the required sample size for a given section, disregarding its length. Hence, in general, for sections with similar standard deviations, allowable errors, and  $Z_{\alpha}$  (or

 $t_{\alpha}$ ) values, basically the same required number of deflections is obtained for both a short section and a considerably longer section.

This serious incongruity can be surmounted by considering the fact that for materials characterization purposes in rigid pavements the universe or population of deflections is a finite number for a given design section, which makes necessary the application of a finite multiplier, namely

$$\frac{N-n}{r}$$

where

N = population size.

Deflections for materials characterization are generally taken at a midslab position to minimize the effect of discontinuities and temperature on recorded deflections. For practical purpose, only one deflection measurement is required between successive discontinuities in the longitudinal direction along a certain lane and within a selected pavement design section, since an interior loading position should be approximated in the field in order to use elastic layered theory to back-calculate the pavement layer stiffnesses.

 $N = \frac{L}{\overline{S}}$ (5.8)

where

.

L

= pavement section length, feet, and

 $\overline{S}$  = average spacing between successive discontinuities in the longitudinal direction, feet.

S can be determined from condition survey information. In the case of continuously reinforced concrete pavements the average crack spacing should

be used, whereas for jointed pavements the average joint spacing should be estimated.

It must be pointed out that it is assumed that sample size is to be computed after pavement design sections are established. The common procedure followed for selecting design sections is to plot previous deflection measurements to scale as a function of distance; the roadway can then be divided into sections based on stratified variation of deflection data. Sections are selected subjectively, according to the plotted profile of the deflection parameters. The reader should consult Refs 4 and 5 for a more detailed explanation about the selection of design sections.

If  $\sigma$  is unknown, the estimated standard error of the mean of a finite universe is computed:

$$\hat{\sigma} = \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\sqrt{n_r}} \sqrt{\frac{N - n_r}{N - 1}}$$
(5.9)

where

$$\sigma = \text{estimated standard error of the mean.}$$

Now, a new expression to determine the required number of Dynaflect deflections can be derived.

Let the allowable error, e, be equal to

$$\mathbf{e} = \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{\mu} \tag{5.10}$$

e can also be expressed as

$$e = t_{\alpha} \frac{\hat{\sigma}}{\sqrt{n_{r}}} \sqrt{\frac{N - n_{r}}{N - 1}}$$

$$e = t_{\alpha} \hat{\sigma} \sqrt{\frac{N}{n_{r}} (N - 1)} - \frac{1}{N - 1}$$
(5.11)

RR256-6F/05

Solving for n<sub>r</sub>, after some algebraic simplifications

$$n_{r} = \frac{N t_{\alpha}^{2} \hat{\sigma}^{2}}{(N-1) e^{2} + t_{\alpha}^{2} \hat{\sigma}^{2}}$$
(5.12)

By dividing both the numerator and the denominator of the right-hand side of Eq 5.12 by  $t_{\alpha}^{2} \stackrel{\circ}{\sigma}_{,}^{2}$  the following alternate equation is obtained

$$n_{r} = \frac{N}{\frac{(N-1)e^{2}}{t_{\alpha}^{2}\hat{\sigma}^{2}} + 1}$$
(5.13)

Torres-Verdin and McCullough (Ref 5) correlated slab thickness variation with sensor 1 mean deflection, and since allowable error is often expressed as a percent of sensor 1 mean deflection, it was found that an allowable error of 5 percent of the sensor 1 mean deflection resulted in a  $\pm$  0.5 in variation thickness, which, in turn, can be expressed as a percent of the sensor 1 mean deflection.

Computations were made to find the required number of Dynaflect deflection measurements for various combinations of values of  $\sigma$ , e and N, and for two different confidence levels (90 and 95 percent).

The confidence interval was defined as

$$\mu \leq \overline{x} + t_{\alpha} \hat{\sigma}_{\overline{x}}$$
 (5.14)

Hence, one-tail hypothesis tests were used to determine sample size, for which the major concern was to state at a given confidence level that was less than or equal to the upper limit of the interval corresponding to that confidence level.

Likewise, the required deflection sample size can also be computed using a normal distribution approach. Assuming that  $\sigma$  is equal to  $\sigma$ , Eq 5.13 can be modified as follows:

$$\mathbf{n_{r}} = \frac{N}{\frac{(N-1)e^{2}}{Z_{\alpha}^{2}\hat{\sigma}^{2}} + 1}$$
(5.15)

The above equation has an advantage over the Student's-t-distribution approach that  $Z_{\alpha}$  is solely dependent on the particular confidence level selected, while  $t_{\alpha}$  is obtained for a given confidence level and number of degrees of freedom.

In order to determine  $n_r$  when employing the Student's-t-distribution approach, an iterative procedure was followed because number of degrees of freedom is equal to sample size minus one  $(n_r - 1)$  and  $n_r$  is unknown at the outset of the analysis. First, a value of  $t_{\alpha}$  was assumed in Eq 5.13 to obtain an initial  $n_r$ ; the  $t_{\alpha}$  corresponding to the initial  $n_r$  was input into the same equation to compute a second  $n_r$ , and this process was repeated until the number of degrees of freedom plus one (d.f. + 1) was approximately equal to the resulting  $n_r$ . It is important to mention that  $n_r$  was rounded up to the next integer because sample size for Dynaflect deflection measurements is always an integer number.

The following general conclusions can be drawn from the above study:

- (1) The normal-distribution approach results in sample sizes similar to ones obtained from the application of formula 5.13. Besides, Z  $_{\alpha}$  does not vary with sample size and t $_{\alpha}$  does.
- (2) The required number of Dynaflect deflections increases with increasing  $\hat{\sigma}$ , population size and confidence level. An increase in  $n_r$  is also observed when the allowable error, e, is decreased.

Figures 5.5 and 5.6 graphically show the results obtained for different combinations of  $\sigma$ , e, and N. Both the x and y axes were deformed so that the wide range of values corresponding to N and  $n_r$ , respectively, could be accommodated. These charts are recommended when it is not possible to use Eq 5.16, which is a simplification of Eq 5.15.



Fig 5.5. Required deflection sample size for various combinations of  $\hat{\sigma}$ , e, and N and a 90 percent confidence level (e is given in mils).



Fig 5.5. (continued).



Fig 5.6. (continued).



Fig 5.6. Required number of Dynaflect deflections for various combinations of  $\hat{\sigma}$ , e, and N and a 95 percent confidence level (e is given in mils).

Generally, the size of the population is sufficiently large so that the difference between N and N-l is negligible. Hence, the finite multiplier can be modified.

$$\frac{N-n}{N-1} \cong \frac{N-n}{N}$$

Finally, a less complicated version of Eq 5.12 is obtained:

$$n_{r} = \frac{\frac{1}{e^{2}}}{\frac{e^{2}}{z_{\alpha}^{2} \hat{\sigma}^{2}} + \frac{1}{N}}$$
(5.16)

Values for Z  $_{\alpha}$  depending on the selected confidence level are provided in Table 5.3. In some instances a required sample size of less than two measureents can be obtained; however, a minimum value of two should always be used.

If no previous deflection information is available about a particular pavement section, the required number of Dynaflect deflections could be estimated as the testing is conducted by computing  $\hat{\sigma}$  and  $\bar{x}$  corresponding to the sensor 1 deflections taken so far. This could be done for every additional deflection until both  $\sigma$  and  $\bar{x}$  remained reasonably constant. The process described above could be made very simple by connecting a microcomputer to the device in which the deflections are permanently recorded. Likewise, if this improvement were made, either Eq 5.15 or 5.16 could be easily included in a computer program to calculate the required number of Dynaflect deflection measurements.

# Determination of the Required Sample Size of Dynaflect Deflections for Void Detection and Load Transfer Evaluation

For void detection and load transfer evaluation, the sample size would depend on the condition of the pavement. Data from condition surveys are very useful in trying to locate the areas susceptible to voids in a given pavement section in which there is evidence of pumping along the pavement

Confidence Level, a, Percent	zα
80.0	0.842
85.0	1.036
90.0	1.282
95.0	1.645
97.5	1.960
99.0	2.326

•

# TABLE 5.3. VALUES OF $\textbf{Z}_{\alpha}$ For various confidence levels

edge. Then, the Dynaflect could be taken to the site so that deflections could be analyzed to either confirm or deny the findings from the condition survey.

The required number of Dynaflect deflections for load-transfer evaluation is a decision that is left to engineering judgement, since a visual inspection of the joints and/or cracks is required prior to using the Dynaflect. Wide crack widths may indicate low load transfer in CRC pavements since in these pavements coarse aggregate interlock is an important influence on load transfer across a crack.

#### SUMMARY

The commonly employed normality assumption for deflection data was checked in the first part of this chapter. The normality checks were performed on a random sample of the Dynaflect deflection data. It has been The normality assumption is reasonably acceptable for the set of data tested.

A detailed procedure was also developed to determine the number of Dynaflect deflection basins on rigid pavement required for material characterization. Similarly recommendations are also made regarding sample size for the purpose of void detection and load transfer evaluation.

#### CHAPTER 6. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

# SUMMARY

The effects on measured deflections of seasons of the year, temperature, and distance from the pavement edge and other pavement characteristics such as voids and discontinuities on deflections are described in this report. The influence of placement and replicate errors and effects of rigid layer and variations in slab thickness are also discussed.

Guidelines for the applications of Dynaflect deflections to material characterization, void detection and load transfer evaluation are presented. A procedure for estimation of pavement temperature from daily weather reports is described to provide an alternative to the actual measurement. The assumption of normality has been checked on a random sample of the Dynaflect deflections based on sound statistical theory.

#### CONCLUSIONS

## Factors Affecting Deflections and Sources of Errors

The major findings regarding effects of different factors and sources of errors on deflections measured on rigid pavements are stated below.

- (1) Temperature differential is the most important temperature variable influencing deflections on rigid pavement. The extent and nature of this influence depends on distance from pavement edge and the load.
  - (a) Edge deflections are significantly affected by temperature differential and require a temperature correction.
  - (b) The influence of temperature differential on deflections measured in the wheelpath or near the center line is not of practical significance.

85

- (2) Seasonal changes in the deflections on CRC pavements are not significant. However deflections on other types of rigid pavements show seasonal effects. The findings for CRC pavements are interesting but based on limited data and somewhat in conflict with the present data and belief. Further research is needed in this area.
- (3) It is important to recognize that distance of the Dynaflect with respect to pavement edge should be based on the purpose for which the deflection data is required. Pavement characteristics such as void size and transverse cracks or joints should also accordingly be considered in the selection of test location.
- (4) The loading wheels of the Dynaflect should be placed as close as possible to the designated test position on the pavement. Any data where placement error is greater than  $\pm$  5 inches tolerance should be dropped. Dynaflect deflection data is very reliable and coefficient of variation is generally less than 10 percent.
- (5) Infinite subgrade is generally assumed in the calculation of subgrade modulus from a measured deflection basin. This modulus value should be reduced to account the effect of any rigid layer existing below a finite thickness of the subgrade.

# Applications of the Dynaflect Deflections

<u>Material Characterization</u>. The principal conclusion related to the procedure of material characterization from Dynaflect deflections are summarized as follows:

- (1) Guidelines presented in Chapter 3 can be used to estimate the initial values of Young's moduli of pavement layers and subgrade.
- (2) Step by step procedures presented in the text can be used to backcalculate Young's moduli by fitting the measured deflection basin, either using computer based iterative methods or a graphical method.

RR256-6F/06

- (3) Correction of subgrade modulus for the presence of a rigid layer results in a reduction in the final subgrade modulus. However, a rigid bottom can be simulated in any layered theory computer program by assigning a very large value (say 10<sup>99</sup> psi) of Young's modulus to the last layer.
- (4) The Dynaflect deflection basin should be measured in midspan position and in the wheelpath or near the center line of the outside line for the purpose of material characterization.

#### Void Detection

- (1) Dynaflect deflections are to be measured at 1 ft from pavement edge and compared with midspan deflections measured at the center of the lane.
- (2) The Dynaflect edge deflections measured for void detection and for checking the effectiveness of grouting are to be corrected to remove the influence of temperature differential.

Load <u>Transfer</u>. The conclusions from the study of load transfer evaluation are as follows:

- (1) Load transfer at transverse cracks can be estimated by comparing the Dynaflect sensor 1 deflections at the crack to the deflections at midspan between cracks.
- (2) The diagnostic checking of the structural condition of pavements at transverse cracks can be made by the deflection ratio  $(d_c/d_i)$  obtained from Dynaflect deflection measurements.

#### Reflection Cracking Analysis

Those joints (or cracks) whose deflection factors exceed the maximum deflection factor should be subjected to an appropriate rehabilitation measure before overlay placement.

#### Estimation of Temperature in Concrete Slab

- (1) If it is not possible to actually measure temperatures in concrete slab then temperature differential can be estimated from
  - (a) daily maximum and minimum air temperature,
  - (b) solar radiation data,
  - (c) wind speed, and
  - (d) thickness of slab.
- (2) Computer program PTEMP can be used to estimate temperature at any depth in a concrete slab.
- (3) The model predictions for temperatures compare very well with the measured temperature data.

## Determination of Required Number of Dynaflect Deflections

<u>Check</u> for Normality Assumption. A procedure for determining the normality of the distribution of the data have been presented.

<u>Sample Size</u> <u>Determination</u>. A simplified procedure has been developed and is presented that can be used to select the required deflection sample size based on the section length for the purpose of material characterization.

# RECOMMENDATIONS

The Dynaflect deflection measurements on rigid pavements are made for structural evaluation. The following recommendations are based on the findings of this report.

- (1) This report provides detailed background material to:
  - (a) determine sample size and performing deflection measurements to obtain reliable and useful data and

- (b) analyze the respective deflection data according to the purpose for which the Dynaflect was used.
- (2) Specific guidelines in Chapter 3 of this report should be used for analyzing the deflection data to do material characterization, void detection and load transfer evaluation.

#### REFERENCES

- Schnitter, Otto, W. R. Hudson, and B. F. McCullough, "A Rigid Pavement Overlay Design Procedure for Texas SDHPT," Research Report 177-13, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, May 1978.
- Birkhoff, J. W., and B. F. McCullough, "Detection of Voids Underneath Continuously Reinforced Concrete Pavements," Research Report 177-18, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, August 1979.
- 3. Strauss, Pieter J., B. F. McCullough, and W. R. Hudson, "Continuously Reinforced Concrete Pavement: Structural Performance and Design/Construction Variables," Research Report 177-7, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, May 1977.
- 4. Taute, Arthur, B. Frank McCullough, and W. R. Hudson, "Improvements to the Material Characterization and Fatigue Life Prediction Methods of the Texas Rigid Pavement Overlay Design Procedure," Research Report 249-1, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, March 1981.
- 5. Torres-Verdin, Victor, and B. F. McCullough, "Effect of Environmental Factors and Loading Position on Dynaflect Deflections in Rigid Pavements," Research Report 249-4, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, February 1982.
- 6. Torres, Francisco, and B. F. McCullough, "Void Detection and Grouting Process," Research Report 249-3, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, May 1982.
- Uddin, Waheed, Soheil Nazarian, W. Ronald Hudson, Alvin H. Meyer, and K. H. Stokoe II, "Investigations into Dynaflect Deflections in Relation to Location/Temperature Parameters and Insitu Material Characterization of Rigid Pavements," Research Report 256-5, Center for Transportation Research, December 1983.

- 8. Eagleson, Bary, S. Heisey, W. R. Hudson, A. H. Meyer, and K. H. Stokoe, "Comparison of the Falling Weight Deflectometer and the Dynaflect for Pavement Evaluation," Research Report 256-1, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, December 1981.
- 9. Haas, Ralph and W. R. Hudson, <u>Pavement Management Systems</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 1978.
- 10. Price, Glen E., "Curling of Rigid Pavement Slabs Due to Temperature Differential," Master's Thesis, The University of Texas at Austin, June, 1967.
- 11. "The AASHO Road Test, Report 5, Pavement Research," <u>Special Report GIE</u>, Highway Research Board, Washington, D. C., 1962.
- Yoder, E. J., and M. W. Witczak, <u>Principles of Pavement Design</u>, 2nd Edition, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1975, pp 85-91.
- Uddin, W., "Application of ANOVA Techniques to Columbus Dynaflect Data," Technical Memorandum 256-12, October 1983.
- 14. Metwali, E. S. W., "Framework for a Pavement Evaluation System," Report No. FHWA/IN/JHRP-18/7, Joint Highway Research Project, Purdue University, West LaFayette, Indiana, May 1981.
- 15. Hudson, W. R., and Hudson Matlock, "Discontinuous Orthotropic Plates and Slabs," Research Report 56-6, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, May 1966.
- 16. Nazarian, Soheil, and Kenneth H. Stokoe, "Evaluation of Moduli and Thickness of Pavement Systems by Spectral-Analysis-of-Surface Waves Method," Research Report 256-4, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, December 1983.
- Abou-Ayyash, Adnan, and W. Ronald Hudson, "Analysis of Bending Stiffness Variation at Cracks in Continuous Pavements," Research Report 56-22, Center for Highway Research, The University of Texas at Austin, April 1972.
- 18. Shahin, M. Y., and B. Frank McCullough, "Prediction of Low Temperature and Thermal-Fatigue Cracking in Flexible Pavements," Research Report 123-14, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, August 1972.
- 19. <u>Climatological</u> <u>Data</u>, <u>Texas</u>, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Climatic Center, Ashville, North Carolina, Vol 86, No. 8, August 1981.
- 20. Conover, W. J., <u>Practical Nonparametric Statistics</u>, 2nd Edition, John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1980, pp 147-149, 357-365.
- 21. Hull, C. H., and N. H. Nie, <u>SPPS Update 7-9</u>, McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, 1981.
- 22. Clark, C. T., and L. L. Schkade, <u>Statistical Analysis for Administrative</u> Decisions, 3rd Edition, South-Western Publishing Co., Ohio, 1979.
- 23. McCullough, B. F., Victor Torres-Verdin, "Summary and Recommendations of a Rigid Pavement Overlay and Design System," Preliminary Review Copy, Research Report 249-8F, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, November 1983.
- 24. Mendoza-Diaz, Alberto and B. F. McCullough, "Design Charts for the Design of HMAC Overlays on PCC Pavements Against Reflection Cracking," Preliminary Review Copy, Research Report 249-6, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin, November 1983.
- 25. Seeds, S. B., B. F. McCullough, and R. F. Carmichael, "Arkansas Reflection Cracking Analysis and Overlay Design Procedure," Report No. NA-3/1, The University of Arkansas, Arkansas State Highway and Transportation Department, Austin Research Engineers, Inc., February 1982.